THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Jan 12 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-002124

Curis D. Bale,Petitioner,

v.

John A. Dougherty, Wachovia Securities Financial Holdings, LLC, Wells Fargo Clearing Services, LLC, f/k/a Wells Fargo Advisors, LLC, Wells Fargo & Company, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., and LPL Financial, LLC,.....Defendants,

of which John A. Dougherty, Wells Fargo Clearing Services, LLC, f/k/a Wells Fargo Advisors, LLC, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., and LPL Financial, LLC areRespondents.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Overture Walker
STONEY & WALKER, LLC
930 Richland Street

QUESTION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This Court previously held that orders compelling arbitration are not immediately appealable because there is a policy favoring arbitration and the general appeal statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330, does not apply. Since then, this Court has repudiated that policy, and both this Court and the Court of Appeals have applied § 14-3-330 to orders compelling arbitration.

Given these changes in the law, are orders compelling arbitration immediately appealable, just like orders denying arbitration?

INTRODUCTION

“[N]othing is settled until it is settled right.” *McLeod v. Starnes*, 396 S.C. 647, 654, 723 S.E.2d 198, 202 (2012) (quoting *Smith v. Daniel Const. Co.*, 253 S.C. 248, 255–56, 169 S.E.2d 767, 771 (1969) (Bussey, J., dissenting)).

Thirty years ago, this Court held that “the policy of the United States and this State [] to favor arbitration of disputes” creates an unequal appeal right: orders compelling arbitration are not immediately appealable, while orders denying arbitration are. *Heffner v. Destiny, Inc.*, 321 S.C. 536, 537, 471 S.E.2d 135, 136 (1995). The Court reached this decision *ex mero motu*—on its own, without a motion or input from the parties. All subsequent decisions re-stating this rule lead back to *Heffner*.

But this Court has since jettisoned that policy. *Palmetto Const. Grp., LLC v. Restoration Specialists, LLC*, 432 S.C. 633, 649, 856 S.E.2d 150, 153 (2021) (“There is ... no public policy—

federal or state—‘favoring’ arbitration.”); *Lampo v. Amedisys Holding, LLC*, 445 S.C. 305, 317, 914 S.E.2d 139, 146 (2025) (“We remind our litigants and lower courts that we dispensed with this incorrect notion [that there is a policy favoring arbitration] almost four years ago.”); *see also Morgan v. Sundance, Inc.*, 596 U.S. 411, 418 (2022) (observing that the Supreme Court’s historic references to a “policy favoring arbitration” actually “connotes something different,” where “[t]he policy is to make arbitration agreements as enforceable as other contracts, but not more so”) (cleaned up). And by abandoning the policy in favor of arbitration, this Court likewise abandoned procedural rules based on it. Indeed, our appellate courts have opened the door to reviewing orders compelling arbitration under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330, the standard appealability statute. *See, e.g., Huskins v. Mungo Homes, LLC*, 444 S.C. 592, 910 S.E.2d 474 (2024), *affirming* 439 S.C. 356, 887 S.E.2d 534 (Ct. App. 2023); *Widener v. Fort Mill Ford*, 381 S.C. 522, 524, 674 S.E.2d 172, 173–74 (Ct. App. 2009).

Still, the Court of Appeals dismissed Bale’s appeal of an order compelling him to arbitration under the outdated rule. This Court should issue a writ of certiorari to clarify the appealability of orders compelling arbitration given these conflicting decisions. This is a matter of extraordinary importance. Under *Heffner*, orders compelling arbitration evade review. Parties opposing arbitration have little, if any, recourse if the circuit court erred; they must proceed with arbitration over their objection with no meaningful chance for review down the road. Meanwhile, parties seeking arbitration have a guaranteed right to immediately appeal the denial of it. The question presented asks whether the playing field has been leveled. After all, if arbitration agreements are ordinary contracts, there is no basis for this disparate treatment which turns solely on which side wins in the circuit court. Because the *Heffner* rule originated with this Court, only this Court can resolve the conflict which has percolated since. The Court therefore should grant Bale’s petition.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of Defendants' gross mismanagement of Bale's investments, including their intentional overleveraging of his accounts without disclosing the risks of that strategy, leaving Bale grossly overexposed to market fluctuations.¹ Defendants' misconduct caused Bale to lose over \$10 million, and their conflicted and frenetic actions to protect themselves instead of Bale locked-in Bale's losses. Bale filed his suit three years ago. Yet he remains at the pleading stage as Defendants actively work to keep his case out of circuit court.

I. Defendants intentionally overleveraged Bale's account, failed to disclose the risk of their strategy, and caused Bale to suffer tremendous damage.

Bale had a successful career in the oil refining industry. App. 69. He retired in 2010 and sold the business he helped bring out of Chapter 11 bankruptcy, Warrior Asphalt, Inc., for \$9.5 million. *Id.* From the sale, Bale had to pay \$5 million to buy out his partner's interest in Warrior, pay capital gains taxes on his interest in Warrior, and satisfy a real estate loan. *Id.* John Dougherty, who had managed Warrior's employee retirement plans, solicited Bale to become his personal client after learning of the substantial proceeds Bale would receive. App. 69–70.

Dougherty developed a three-pronged investment strategy which he assured Bale was the best way to manage the proceeds from Warrior's sale and satisfy Bale's obligations. *First*, Bale would entrust Dougherty with the entire \$9.5 million Warrior proceeds in exchange for a management fee based on the gross value of Bale's investments. *Second*, Bale would take out a \$5 million loan secured by his investments, thus preserving the full proceeds for Dougherty's management, rather than pay off his existing obligations with part of the proceeds. *And third*, Bale

¹ The term "Defendants" refers to all defendants in the circuit court, and the term "Respondents" refers only to those defendants who are on appeal.

would not reduce his investments by paying down the loan, but would use his investment accounts to generate income to pay interest on the loan, management fees for Dougherty, and lastly, living expenses for Bale. App. 70. Dougherty knew, but intentionally failed to disclose, the substantial risks of his plan to excessively leverage Bale’s accounts to maximize Dougherty and his employer’s earnings to the detriment of Bale’s financial security. App. 70–71. But relying on Dougherty’s reputation, apparent financial knowledge, and assurances that this investment strategy was prudent and safe, Bale accepted Dougherty’s recommendation in full. *Id.*

In 2013, Dougherty moved to Wells Fargo Advisors. App. 71. Still unaware of the risk Dougherty’s strategy created, Bale followed Dougherty’s solicitation to join him. *Id.* In connection with that move, Dougherty and Wells Fargo Advisors worked with Wells Fargo Bank to issue a “Secured Primeline” loan to assume Bale’s existing \$5 million debt collateralized by his investment accounts. *Id.*; *see also* App. 95. Unbeknownst to Bale, he was the victim of a well-orchestrated scheme jointly devised by the principals of Wells Fargo & Co., Wells Fargo Bank, and Wells Fargo Advisors to pressure brokers like Dougherty to cross-sell bank loans to brokerage clients like Bale, and to keep loan balances as high as possible. *See* Bethany McLean & Ethan Wolff-Mann, *Exclusive: Wells Fargo pushed wealth advisors to use high-fee products, cross-sell*, YAHOO! FINANCE (Aug. 21, 2018) <https://tinyurl.com/zye65w63>. Wells Fargo’s now highly publicized fraudulent cross-selling scheme depended on all Wells Fargo entities aggressively pressuring their employees, including advisors like Dougherty, to sell Wells Fargo Bank products—even when they were against a client’s best interests—to fraudulently increase the earnings and stock price of Wells Fargo & Co.² *See id.*

² Wells Fargo has been subject to numerous regulatory and enforcement actions resulting in billions of dollars in fines because of their unlawful cross-selling of company products. *See* Srinivasan Ragothaman, et al., *Fake Accounts Scandal at Wells Fargo: What are the Lessons?*, 14 J.

(reporting that “advisors felt pushed to add high-fee products to portfolios” that “could result in additional revenue for the bank”); *id.* (“In addition to the use of advanced investing options, Wells Fargo advisors in the Private Bank were also required to generate other business in the form of loans, mortgages, and wealth-planning products, or, once again, put their bonuses in jeopardy.”); *see also* Rachel Lousie Ensign, *Wells Fargo Ex-CEO Banned, to Pay \$17 Million in Fake-Account Scandal*, Wall St. J. (Jan. 23, 2020) (reporting that a former employee wrote to John Stumpf in 2013 stating “I was in the 1991 Gulf War ... This is sad and hard for me to say, but I had less stress in the 1991 Gulf War than working for Wells Fargo”).

The “Secured Primeline” loan is an exemplar of Wells Fargo’s fraudulent cross-selling scheme. *See* Brian Tayan, *The Wells Fargo Cross-Selling Scandal*, Harv. L. Sch. F. Corp. Governance (Feb. 6, 2019) (noting the risks of financial incentives when employees are rewarded “for achieving a metric without regard to the actions they took to achieve that metric”). Bale’s accruing loan interest and nearly doubled investment account balance maximized Wells Fargo’s profits and Dougherty’s income—in 2019 alone, Wells Fargo collected over \$250,000 from Bale in loan interest and investment management fees, meaning Bale’s investments needed to generate an over 3.5% return just to pay his fiduciaries’ fees before he received any funds for living expenses. App. 73–74. But because Bale received sufficient funds for living expenses at this time, this issue did not

FORENSIC INVESTIGATIVE ACCT. (Dec. 2022), <http://web.nacva.com/JFIA/Issues/JFIA-2022-No2-11.pdf>. As part of a federal case brought by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, the former CEO of Wells Fargo John Stumpf was banned from the industry and ordered to pay a fine of \$17.5 million. *Id.*; *see also In re John Stumpf*, AA-EC-2019-83 (Jan. 22, 2020), <https://www.occ.gov/static/enforcement-actions/ea2020-004.pdf>. Similarly, former Wells Fargo senior executive Carrie Tolstedt agreed to pay \$3 million in fines to the SEC for her role in misleading investors about abusive sales practices. SEC Release No. 2023-99 (May 30, 2023), <https://www.sec.gov/newsroom/press-releases/2023-99>.

immediately surface. So to continue maximizing the revenue stream, Wells Fargo and Dougherty never instructed Bale to pay down the loan balance. App. 71–72.

As 2020 began, Bale’s assets remained excessively leveraged to secure the \$5 million he still owed to Wells Fargo Bank. App. 73–74. When the Covid-19 pandemic struck, Dougherty preemptively converted Bale’s securities holdings into cash to protect Wells Fargo Bank’s security interest in the account when the market dropped. App. 75. But putting Bale’s holdings into cash prevented Bale from participating in the market rebound in early May 2020. *Id.* Because Dougherty sold Bale’s investments when they were low to protect Wells Fargo, buying back into the market at a high locked-in Bale’s losses. *Id.* Throughout 2020, Dougherty continued engaging in erratic and imprudent short-term trading to Bale’s detriment. App. 74–75.

In early 2021, Dougherty transferred his registration to LPL Financial. App. 76. Because Bale still was unaware of Dougherty’s role in the losses he incurred, Bale transferred his accounts to LPL Financial. *Id.* Dougherty continued his reckless in-and-out trading at LPL Financial, eroding the little remaining equity in Bale’s accounts. App. 77. Now facing a forced sale of his entire investment account if its value fell below \$5 million, Bale transferred his assets out of LPL Financial in August 2021. *Id.* Bale had to cut his standard of living, including selling his beloved retirement home and forgoing the retirement he worked so hard for, to begin paying down the loan taken and maxed out at Dougherty’s recommendation. *Id.*

II. The circuit court erroneously compelled Bale’s case to arbitration based on agreements which are unconscionable, invalid, and contrary to forum rules.

Bale filed his complaint in Richland County circuit court on January 17, 2023, alleging breach of fiduciary duty, breach of contract, breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act, violation of the South Carolina Uniform Securities Act of 2005, and violation of the South Carolina

Unfair Trade Practices Act. App. 65–92. LPL Financial removed the case to federal court, alleging diversity jurisdiction. But the district court remanded the case on March 25, 2024, after LPL Financial failed to prove diversity of citizenship. *Bale v. Dougherty*, No. 3:23-cv-660-SAL, 2024 WL 3607691, at *7 (D.S.C. Mar. 25, 2024).

Back in circuit court, Respondents moved to compel arbitration on March 25 and April 3, 2024. App. 100–56.³ Wells Fargo Advisors, LPL Financial, and Dougherty sought arbitration before FINRA—the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority—while Wells Fargo Bank sought arbitration before AAA. Wells Fargo & Co. and Wachovia Securities Financial Holdings answered the complaint and did not seek arbitration.

Bale opposed Respondents’ motions for three reasons. *First*, Wells Fargo Advisors’ and Wells Fargo Bank’s arbitration agreements are unconscionable. Wells Fargo’s liability results from a unified scheme which Wells Fargo wants to spread across a court (for Wells Fargo & Co. and Wachovia Securities Financial Holdings) and two arbitration groups (FINRA for Wells Fargo Advisors and AAA for Wells Fargo Bank). No single decision-maker will consider Wells Fargo’s collective liability, and it will be impossible to present all evidence and witnesses before any single body. This creates a risk of inconsistent fact-finding and recovery on a procedural rather than merits basis, in violation of *Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, 437 S.C. 596, 612, 879 S.E.2d 746, 755 (2022), and oppressively increases the cost and complexity of litigation. App. 170–72. These arbitration agreements are also unconscionable because Wells Fargo Advisors and Wells Fargo

³ For ease of review, Bale omits exhibits to any filings in the circuit court because they are not germane to the Court’s understanding of the issues presented. The main documents are sufficient to provide the needed information. Bale will supplement these documents with their exhibits if requested.

Bank retained the unilateral right to amend them. App. 172–73. *Second*, no valid arbitration agreement exists with any Respondent due to the lack of consideration, absence of a meeting of the minds, mistake, and failure of a condition precedent. App. 173–90. *And third*, FINRA rules prohibit Dougherty—who FINRA barred from the industry—from forcing Bale to arbitrate in that forum. App. 191–92.

The Honorable Jocelyn Newman heard Respondents’ motions on November 18, 2024, and entered a Form 4 granting them on March 26, 2025. App. 195. Judge Newman then entered Respondents’ proposed orders without change on July 9, 2025. App. 200–18. The court also stayed Bale’s claims against Wells Fargo & Co. and Wachovia Securities Financial Holdings, even though no one had asked for this stay. *E.g.*, App. 214, 217.

Bale timely moved for reconsideration on July 21, 2025. App. 220–39. As Bale summarized, the circuit court’s orders are deeply flawed:

The Court’s July 9, 2025 orders compelling arbitration overlooked, misapprehended, and did not consider core arguments Bale raised in opposition to arbitration, and improperly, albeit inadvertently, stayed claims against two parties not subject to arbitration. First, the Court did not address Bale’s unconscionability argument, despite clear and un rebutted evidence that the arbitration agreements were procedurally and substantively oppressive and one-sided. Also, after a hearing on the original motions the Fourth Circuit affirmed a district court’s refusal to compel arbitration under similar unilateral contractual terms. *See Johnson v. Cont’l Fin. Co., LLC*, 131 F.4th 169, 178 (4th Cir. 2025). Second, the Court overlooked the failure of Wells Fargo Advisors, Wells Fargo Bank, and LPL Financial to meet their burden of proving the existence of a valid and enforceable arbitration agreement with Bale. Each entity relied on flawed or irrelevant contracts, including documents that lack a meeting of the minds, are infected by mistake, are unsupported consideration, or fail to meet FINRA’s requirements. Third, the Court did not consider FINRA Rule 12202(a), which prohibits a barred broker like Dougherty from compelling arbitration without customer consent, which Bale has not given. Because these omissions materially affect the outcome of the Court’s orders and implicate Bale’s right to a judicial forum, reconsideration is both necessary and appropriate.

Reconsideration is also necessary to clarify that the claims against Wells Fargo & Company and Wachovia Securities Financial Holdings are not stayed. Both entities answered Bale's complaint, neither moved to compel arbitration, no other party asked that claims against these two Defendants be stayed, all Defendants understood that the case would proceed against these entities in court even if the then-pending motions to compel arbitration were granted, and Bale would be greatly prejudiced by a stay. Yet, the Court's orders purport to stay this *entire* case. Reconsideration is imperative to afford the Court the opportunity to, at a minimum, clarify the scope of its ruling as only applying to the moving Defendants.

App. 220–21. Judge Newman denied Bale's motion on September 16, 2025. App. 275–76.

III. The Court of Appeals dismissed Bale's appeal of the order compelling arbitration as interlocutory.

Bale appealed Judge Newman's orders on October 16, 2025. App. 1–25. Six days later, and without a motion from Respondents, the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal because the orders are not immediately appealable under *Toler's Cove Homeowners Ass'n v. Trident Const. Co.*, 355 S.C. 605, 586 S.E.2d 581 (2003). App. 26–27. Bale moved to reinstate the appeal under Rule 260, SCACR, or for the court to construe the motion as a petition for rehearing under Rule 221(a), SCACR. App. 28–61. Without asking for a return from Respondents, the Court of Appeals construed the motion as a petition for rehearing and denied the petition on December 12, 2025. App. 281–82.

Bale timely filed this petition seeking review of the Court of Appeals' dismissal.

ARGUMENT

For 30 years, appellate courts have disparately treated arbitration orders: orders denying arbitration are immediately appealable, while orders compelling arbitration are not. This Court sanctioned that disparity in *Heffner v. Destiny, Inc.*, 321 S.C. 536, 471 S.E.2d 135 (1995), under the policy favoring arbitration. But this Court has now discarded that policy. Also, appellate courts have found some orders compelling arbitration to be appealable under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-

330, even though *Heffner* held that § 14-3-330 does not apply to them. Only this Court can resolve (1) the conflict between *Heffner* and these more recent cases and (2) the unconstitutional disparate treatment of arbitration orders which persists.

I. This Court should grant certiorari to resolve the conflict between *Heffner*, which relied on the policy favoring arbitration to hold that orders compelling arbitration are not appealable, and later decisions from this Court holding there is no such policy.

The Court of Appeals based its perfunctory dismissal of Bale’s appeal on this Court’s holding in *Toler’s Cove Homeowners Ass’n v. Trident Const. Co.* that “an order compelling arbitration is not immediately appealable.” 355 S.C. 605, 610, 586 S.E.2d 581, 584 (2003). That holding in *Toler’s Cove* rested on this Court’s earlier decision in *Heffner*. At issue here is this Court’s subsequent erosion of *Heffner*’s foundation. Given the conflict which has spread since *Heffner*, special and important reasons exist for this Court to grant certiorari. *See* Rule 242(b), SCACR.

A. This Court has overruled *Heffner*’s cornerstone—the policy in favor of arbitration.

In *Heffner*, this Court held that “[t]he policy of the United States and this State is to favor arbitration of disputes” and “[c]onsistent with this policy, statutes at both the federal and state level have been enacted which restrict the right to appeal orders which favor arbitration over litigation.” 321 S.C. at 537, 471 S.E.2d at 136; *see also* *Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 34, 524 S.E.2d 839, 842 (Ct. App. 1999) (“Both federal and state policy favor arbitrating disputes. This preference for arbitration has manifested itself in legislation and judicial decisions supporting the expeditious appeal of decisions denying an application to compel arbitration.”) (citing *Heffner*, 321 S.C. at 537, 471 S.E.2d at 136). With this policy in mind, *Heffner* next held that S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-200, which specifically allows for appeals from orders denying arbitration but is silent on orders granting arbitration, controls over the general appealability statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330. 321

S.C. at 537–38, 471 S.E.2d at 136. Finally, *Heffner* held that § 15-48-200’s silence as to the appealability of orders compelling arbitration means they are not appealable. *Id.*

This Court, however, has since repudiated *Heffner*’s cornerstone. In *Palmetto Construction Group, LLC v. Restoration Specialists, LLC*, this Court declared “[t]here is ... no public policy—federal or state—‘favoring’ arbitration.” 432 S.C. 633, 649, 856 S.E.2d 150, 153 (2021). Just this past year, the Court “remind[ed] our litigants and lower courts that we dispensed with this incorrect notion [that there is a policy favoring arbitration] almost four years ago.” *Lampo v. Amedisys Holding, LLC*, 445 S.C. 305, 317, 914 S.E.2d 139, 146 (2025). This change in state law tracks the U.S. Supreme Court’s explanation that its own historic references to a “policy favoring arbitration” actually “connote[] something different,” where “[t]he policy is to make arbitration agreements as enforceable as other contracts, but not more so.” *Morgan v. Sundance, Inc.*, 596 U.S. 411, 418 (2022) (cleaned up); *see also Palmetto Constr. Grp.*, 432 S.C. at 639, 856 S.E.2d at 153 (“Neither the Supreme Court nor this Court, however, meant to give the law of arbitration such a special status that it would supplant state procedural law.”). Courts therefore cannot “elevate a contractual right of arbitration above the procedural rules of the court.” *Palmetto Const. Grp.*, 432 S.C. at 636, 856 S.E.2d at 152.

With the policy favoring arbitration over litigation gone, the statutory appealability analysis becomes straightforward. Courts must harmonize general and specific statutes if possible. *Denman v. City of Columbia*, 387 S.C. 131, 138, 691 S.E.2d 465, 468 (2010). This means a specific statute prevails over a general one *only* when the two conflict. *Porter v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm’n.* 327 S.C. 220, 224 n.3, 489 S.E.2d 467, 469 n.3 (1997). With no policy in favor of arbitration, § 15-48-200 and § 14-3-330 do not conflict. Section 15-48-200 simply removes doubt that certain orders involving arbitration—such as orders denying or staying arbitration, both of which allow court proceedings to

continue—are appealable. But it does not supplant the general statute. *See Cnty. of Hawaii v. UNIDEV, LLC*, 129 Haw. 378, 390, 301 P.3d 588, 600 (2013), *as corrected* (July 24, 2013) (finding that the UAA poses “no hurdle” to the general appeals statute but must be read in conjunction to allow appeals from orders compelling arbitration). Further, the negative implication canon which *Heffner* used is not a rule of substantive of law and thus “should be used with care.” *S.C. Dept. of Consumer Affairs v. Rent-A-Center, Inc.*, 345 S.C. 251, 256, 547 S.E.2d 881, 884 (Ct. App. 2001) (citing *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 96 n.1, 533 S.E.2d 578, 587 n.1 (2000) (Burnett, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part)). As a result, courts cannot read an intent to prohibit appeals from orders compelling arbitration into § 15-48-200 if there is no policy in favor of arbitration.⁴ *See UNIDEV*, 129 Haw. at 390, 301 P.3d at 600 (rejecting application of this canon because the UAA’s use of “may” in this section indicates that it is not an exclusive list)

In sum, *Heffner* has lost the foundation for its holding and its precedential value. *See McLeod v. Starnes*, 396 S.C. 647, 654, 723 S.E.2d 198, 202 (2012) (“[W]hen the court is asked to follow the line marked out by a single precedent case it is not at liberty to place its decision on the rule of stare decisis alone, without regard to the grounds on which the antecedent case was adjudicated[.]”) (quoting *State v. Williams*, 13 S.C. 546, 554 (1880)); *see also id.* at 654, 723 S.E.2d at 202–03 (“An original case could not possibly gain authority by a mere perfunctory following on the principle of stare decisis.”) (quoting *Williams*, 13 S.C. at 554–55). There are no special appealability rules for

⁴ Section 15-48-200 differs significantly from the Federal Arbitration Act in this regard. Unlike the state statute, 9 U.S.C. § 16(b)(2) expressly states that orders compelling arbitration are *not* appealable. That Congress needed to exempt those orders demonstrates they otherwise are appealable if they fall within § 14-3-330. *See Denene, Inc. v. City of Charleston*, 352 S.C. 208, 212, 574 S.E.2d 196, 198 (2002) (“The Court must presume the legislature did not intend a futile act, but rather intended its statutes to accomplish something.”); *see also Toler’s Cove*, 355 S.C. at 584–85, 586 S.E.2d at 611 (holding state law applies to questions of appealability of arbitration orders).

arbitration orders. And because orders denying arbitration are appealable, so too are orders compelling arbitration. The Court therefore should grant Bale's petition for a writ of certiorari to review the Court of Appeals' dismissal.

B. With no policy favoring arbitration, denying appellate review of orders compelling arbitration violates the Equal Protection Clauses of the United States and South Carolina Constitutions.

Without a policy favoring arbitration, the disparate treatment of parties compelled to arbitrate and those who are not violates equal protection. This Court therefore should grant certiorari given the substantial constitutional issues involved. *See* Rule 242(b)(4), SCACR.

"[N]o person, or class of persons, shall be denied the same protection of the laws which is enjoyed by other persons or other classes in the same place and under like circumstances." *City of Beaufort v. Holcombe*, 369 S.C. 643, 647-48, 632 S.E.2d 894, 897 (Ct. App. 2006) (citing *Harrison v. Caudle*, 141 S.C. 407, 416, 139 S.E. 842, 845 (1927)). "A classification does not violate the equal protection clause if: (1) the classification bears a reasonable relation to the legislative purpose sought to be effected; (2) the members of the class are treated alike under similar circumstances and conditions; and (3) the classification rests on some reasonable basis." *In re Treatment & Care of Luckabaugh*, 351 S.C. 122, 149, 568 S.E.2d 338, 351 (2002). Because no suspect class is implicated, the constitution bars only "irrational and unjustified classifications" and "legislative enactments ... without any reasonable basis." *Holcombe*, 369 S.C. at 649, 632 S.E.2d at 897.

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