THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Com. Pls. Case No. 2023-cp-40-00242

Ct. App. Case No. 2025-002124

Sup. Ct. Case No. 2026-000066

---

**RECEIVED**

**Mar 05 2026**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

Curtis D. Bale,.....Petitioner,

v.

John A. Dougherty, Wachovia Securities Financial Holdings, LLC, Wells Fargo Clearing Services, LLC, f/ k/ a Wells Fargo Advisors, LLC, Wells Fargo & Company, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., and LPL Financial, LLC,.....Defendants

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

### **Argument**

#### **I. Petitioner is bound by his agreement.**

This Court should enforce Petitioner's agreement that the arbitration panel would be selected no later than 30 days after the Director ruled on his motion to dismiss or stay the arbitration. It is black letter law that courts, including South Carolina courts, will enforce agreements freely and voluntarily entered into by litigants or their attorneys. *See, e.g., Sadighi v. Daghighfekr*, 66 F. Supp. 2d 752, 765 (D.S.C. 1999) (Enforcing agreement entered by parties' counsel); *Huskins v. Mungo Homes, LLC*, 444 S.C. 592, 595, 910 S.E.2d 474, 476 (2024) (Courts will enforce agreements according to their terms); *Arnold v. Yarborough*, 281 S.C. 570, 572, 316 S.E.2d 416, 417 (Ct. App. 1984) ("Acts of an attorney are directly attributable to and binding upon the client").

Here, in order to secure WFCS's agreement to stay selection of an arbitration panel while his motion to dismiss or stay remained pending in FINRA, Petitioner agreed that the panel would be selected no later than "thirty (30) days after a ruling on [his] Motion to Dismiss or Stay." See Ex. 1. Having received the benefit of his bargain, Petitioner now asks this Court to relieve him of his obligation. His agreement should be enforced, and his petition for a stay denied.

**II. Even if Petitioner had not agreed to select arbitrators, a stay would not be warranted.**

Even if he hadn't already agreed to proceed with arbitration on the current timeline, his petition would still fail. To begin with, case law is clear that "staying arbitration pending appeal of an order to arbitrate is distinctly disfavored." *Hyster Co.*, 803 F. Supp. at 1375; see also *Common Cause v. Rucho*, 284 F. Supp. 3d 780, 783 (M.D.N.C. 2018) ("[A] stay [pending appeal] is considered extraordinary relief for which the moving party bears a heavy burden."); *PaineWebber Inc. v. Farnam*, 843 F.2d 1050, 1051, 1053 (7th Cir. 1988) (Holding that "stays of arbitration pending appeal are exceptionally hard to get [and] making casual or reflexive requests [for such stays are] presumptively grounds for sanctions" and awarding Claimants "costs and attorneys' fees ... incurred in resisting the motion for a stay pending appeal"); *Classic Components Supply, Inc. v. Mitsubishi Electronics America, Inc.*, 841 F.2d 163 (7th Cir.1988) (Imposing sanctions on an unsupported request for a stay pending appeal.). Petitioner has provided no authority indicating that his case should be an exception to that general rule and has instead reflexively filed one frivolous appeal after another seeking to avoid his obligations to arbitrate. And he has done this despite clear case law holding that interlocutory appeals of orders granting motions to compel arbitration are impermissible under South Carolina law.

But even assuming Petitioner's appellate arguments are not made in bad faith, he is still not entitled to a stay of arbitration. Submission to arbitration would not legally moot Petitioner's

appeal because a favorable decision in this Court would still provide him with the relief he seeks—vacation of the trial court’s order compelling arbitration. Nor, despite his contentions, will Petitioner be irreparably harmed if the Court does not save him from his own agreement that obligates him to select arbitrators and proceed.

**A. Submission to FINRA jurisdiction does not moot Petitioner’s appeal.**

Petitioner is simply wrong that submission to FINA jurisdiction would moot his appeal. An appeal is only moot “if no live case or controversy remains at the time of appeal.” *Clean Tech Partners, LLC v. Elec. Recyclers Int’l, Inc.*, 627 F. App’x 621, 622 (9th Cir. 2015); *see also Haig Berberian, Inc. v. Cannery Warehousemen*, 535 F.2d 496, 498 n. 1 (9th Cir.1976) (holding that an appeal was not moot because the arbitration award would be unenforceable if the court agreed with the appellant that the dispute was not arbitrable); *Sloan v. Friends of the Hunley, Inc.*, 369 S.C. 20, 25, 630 S.E.2d 474, 477 (2006) (“A moot case exists where a judgment rendered by the court will have no practical legal effect upon an existing controversy because an intervening event renders any grant of effectual relief impossible for the reviewing court”). “A case or controversy exists on appeal so long as a favorable decision on the merits can give an appellant effective relief.” *Id.*; *see also Rampersad v. Plantation at Bay Creek Homeowners Assn.*, 362 Ga. App. 329, 332 (1), 868 S.E.2d 475 (2022) (where an event that ordinarily would render an appeal moot could be “unwound,” there remained the possibility that the appellants could benefit from a favorable decision on appeal, so the appeal was not moot). And courts routinely hold that a party’s submission to arbitration does not moot an appeal over the arbitrability of a dispute because a favorable ruling would still afford the appellant the relief it seeks—it would stop the arbitration proceeding in its tracks and allow the dispute to proceed in the appellant’s preferred forum. *See, e.g., Clean Tech*, 627 F. App’x 622 (Appeal not moot because “a decision vacating the district court order would give Clean Tech an opportunity to potentially contest the validity of the STA

before a district judge rather than an arbitrator”; *Smith v. Millsap*, 369 Ga. App. 430, 437, 893 S.E.2d 833, 840 (2023) (So long as possibility of overturning arbitration award exists, appeals concerning arbitration proceeding are not rendered moot). Indeed, Petitioner acknowledges that a favorable ruling before this Court would provide him the relief he seeks. *See* Petition at 6 (Arguing that the arbitration proceedings would “be a nullity if Bale prevails on appeal”). Submission to arbitration simply would not moot Petitioner’s appeal as a matter of law.

**B. Petitioner will not be irreparably harmed without a stay.**

Nor will Petitioner be irreparably harmed if selection of the arbitration panel occurs on the timeline Petitioner agreed to. Courts have “consistently held that the burden of being compelled to arbitrate does not cause irreparable harm to the resisting party except under extraordinarily rare circumstances.” *Wenchun Zheng*, 2016 WL 11605145, at \*4. Indeed, “the monetary cost of arbitration certainly does not impose ... legally recognized irreparable harm.” *Woodlawn Cemetery v. Local 365, Cemetery Workers & Greens Attendants Union*, 1990 WL 150472, at \*2 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 2, 1990). Nor is the pendency of Petitioner’s current appeal a basis for staying arbitration. “Otherwise, a stay would be justified in every single case, because in every case, the possibility of [] reversal exists.” *Alfa Laval U.S. Treasury Inc. v. Nat’l Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, PA*, 857 F. Supp. 2d 404, 419 (S.D.N.Y. 2012). Petitioner points to no other reason for staying this proceeding. He has therefore failed to demonstrate that he will be irreparably harmed should the arbitration proceed.

**C. A stay would substantially injure Respondents.**

On the other hand, granting a stay would substantially injure Respondents because it would rob them of the benefit of the bargain they reached with Petitioner to stay selection of the panel until 30 days after his motion to dismiss or stay was resolved *and* further delay enforcement of their contractual right to a speedy resolution of the dispute through arbitration. As to the agreement

to select the panel by March 19, denial of Petitioner’s request would not only ensure WFCS and WFB would receive the benefit of their bargain, it would also serve the public, which has an interest in seeing valid agreements, like the one here, enforced. *See Sogefi USA, Inc. v. Interplex Sunbelt, Inc.*, 535 F. Supp. 3d 548, 555 (S.D.W. Va. 2021).

As to the arbitration agreements themselves, as Judge Easterbrook once observed, the very point of arbitration is the speedy resolution of disputes, which is impossible when, like here, a party seeks a stay of arbitration while it “litigates to the gills”:

This case is about arbitration, which is supposed to be a speedy and inexpensive alternative to litigation. The securities industry insists that its customers sign arbitration agreements, which the Supreme Court has sustained—in part on the premise that it is desirable to have a cheap, quick method to deal with the disputes (many too small to justify full scale litigation) this industry produces. *Shearson/American Express, Inc. v. McMahon*, 482 U.S. 220, 107 S.Ct. 2332, 96 L.Ed.2d 185 (1987). ... Even after Edward Jacks obtained from state court an order compelling PaineWebber to arbitrate this very dispute, PaineWebber filed this federal suit in an effort to rid itself of the obligation to arbitrate with Jacks (and others similarly situated); when it lost in the district court, it took an appeal and sought a stay. Arbitration is neither quick nor cheap when one party litigates to the gills. This arbitration is not to be quick, no matter what (PaineWebber's defense, after all, is the untimeliness of the customers' demands), and PaineWebber is entitled to seek a judicial resolution of its obligation to arbitrate. But it is not entitled to litigate in two sets of courts and file motions that have no effect other than to saddle its customers with extra costs. Litigants must think twice before filing papers that put their adversaries to expense; they must think three times before filing in arbitration cases; there is no evidence that PaineWebber thought even once before seeking a stay pending appeal.

*PaineWebber*, 843 F.2d at 1052-53 (awarding costs and attorneys’ fees to Claimants incurred in resisting the motion for a stay pending appeal). This case has been pending for three years while Petitioner resists his obligations to arbitrate the dispute. Respondents will continue to suffer harm if a stay is issued.

This Court should deny the Writ.

**Conclusion**

Petitioner provides no meritorious arguments why his Petition for Writ of Supersedeas should be granted, and so it must be denied.